
 
 

 

 
July 14, 2014 

 
 

THE PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL  
(Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade) 

 
 

REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES COMPANY 

 

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School (“PA Cyber” 
or “the Charter School”) is requesting vendor proposals from qualified Professional 
Services Companies (“PSC”) under the following requirements, terms, and conditions. 

PA Cyber is a public charter school authorized by the Pennsylvania Board of Education 
(“PDE”).  The Charter School operates as a nonprofit entity incorporated in the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania, and is located at 652 Midland Avenue, Midland, PA 
15059, serving grades Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade.  Proposals may be for a 
portion or all of the services outlined in this RFP. 

 
This document will provide an overview of the proposal information requested by PA 
Cyber.  For more information to use in making a proposal, please see the following: 

 
See Appendix I  HISTORY AND OVERVIEW 

 
See Appendix II  FACULTY AND STAFF DEMOGRAPHICS   
 (AS OF MAY 1, 2014) 

 
See Appendix III CHARTER SCHOOL FACILITIES INFORMATION 

 

See Appendix I V 
 
              See Appendix V 

 AUDIT- 2012/2013 
 

EXECUTION OF RESPONSE 
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OBJECTIVE 
 
 
PA Cyber puts an emphasis on programs designed to increase the educational 
achievement level of PA Cyber students.  PA Cyber would like to establish a professional 
services relationship with one or more PSCs that will help manage the operations of the 
Charter School based on comprehensive and clear management principles in compliance 
with all federal, state, and local laws.   
 
The Charter School currently manages its healthcare plan and other employee benefits.  In 
addition, PA Cyber has developed and maintained its own banking and insurance 
relationships.  The Charter School shall maintain control over these matters.  Accordingly, 
PSCs do not have to include services related to healthcare, employee benefits, insurance 
coverage, and banking matters.   
 
PSCs may propose to provide all or a portion of the services described in this 
RFP.   
 
PA Cyber is also open to receiving proposals from PSCs that may outline an 
alternative way to operate PA Cyber.  PSCs interested in submitting an 
alternative proposal should indicate in their response that the proposal is an 
“Alternative Proposal.”  An Alternative Proposal should include a 
description of how the PSC and its proposed partners would work together to 
operate PA Cyber. 
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PROPOSAL REQUEST INFORMATION 
 
 
Proposed Title: 
    
 
 
Proposal Destination 
Due Date & Time: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Proposal Submission: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Valid Offer: 
 
 

Professional Services Proposal 
Organization 
The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School 
 
The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School 
ATTN:  Dr. Michael Conti 
652 Midland Avenue 
Midland, PA 15059 

 
Proposal shall be submitted, one (1) hard copy and one (1) 
electronic copy, by mail or hand delivered to the above address any 
time prior to, but not later than, 5:00 pm on August 11, 2014.  
Proposals received after this time may be returned to the PSC.  
Those submitting sealed proposals should indicate on the outside 
of the envelope in the lower left-hand corner that it is a sealed 
proposal for the Professional Services RFP and the name of the 
individual or firm submitting the proposal.  Failure to do so may 
result in premature disclosure of your proposal and therefore 
disqualify you for further consideration.  At its sole discretion, PA 
Cyber may extend the deadline for the delivery of proposals. 

 
Proposals should be submitted for a 3-year contract period 
(“Professional Services Agreement”), commencing July 1, 2015, and 
ending on June 30, 2018, thereby encompassing the three school 
years.  Performance under the Professional Services Agreement 
may be reviewed after two years.  Any renewals or extensions of 
the Professional Services Agreement will be governed by the 
Professional Services Agreement reached by the parties and the 
requirements of PA Cyber’s charter contract issued by the 
Authorizer (“Contract”).  PA Cyber is under no obligation to award 
a Professional Services Agreement under this RFP. 

 
 
All proposals submitted must be held open and remain valid 
for a minimum period of 90-days after the due date for the 
proposals. 
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Contact Information: The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School 
ATTN:  Casie Colalella 
652 Midland Avenue 
Midland, PA 15059 
casie.colalella@pacyber.org 
 
 

Statement:   Any explanation or statement that the PSC wishes to make  
must be placed in the same envelope with the proposal, but 
shall be written separately and independently of the proposal 
and attached thereto.  Unless the PSC so indicates, it is 
understood that the PSC is in strict compliance with the 
specifications herein.   

 
 
RFP Terms: The proposals will be reviewed and will form the basis for 

further evaluation of possible PSCs and for establishing a 
future Professional Services Agreement or agreements. 

 
PA Cyber reserves the right to reject all proposals, or to waive 
any informalities, irregularities, or technicalities in any 
proposal, should it be deemed to be in its best interest to do so.  
A Professional Services Agreement will be awarded, if at all, to 
the PSC responsible for meeting specifications as determined 
by the Charter School.  While the net cost to the Charter School 
is a significant concern, PA Cyber's Board of Trustees 
(“Board”) is equally concerned with the proven ability of the 
PSC to perform the services required satisfactorily under the 
Professional Services Agreement. 
 
The proposal specifications set forth in the RFP shall be affixed 
to the Professional Services Agreement subsequently entered 
into with the successful PSC, and shall be considered an 
integral part thereof.  Should it later be determined that there 
is contradiction between the Proposal specifications and PA 
Cyber's  Contract, the terms and conditions as stated in the 
Contract shall prevail.  At all times, final decision-making 
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authority regarding matters involving the Charter School rests 
with the PA Cyber Board. 

 
PSCs must satisfy themselves, upon examination of these 
specifications, as to the intent of the specifications.  After the 
submission of a proposal, no complaint or claim that there was 
any misunderstanding concerning an item listed for proposal 
will be entertained from any party.  Each PSC is to provide a 
sample contract under which they have worked in the 
past , but that contract will not necessarily form the basis 
for the Professional Services Agreement. 
 
Each proposal submitted should be complete and 
responsive to the RFP.  Each PSC may also propose 
improvements or modifications to our current program.  
Any program improvements or modifications must be listed 
on separate forms and noted as such. 

 
 
Questions: All questions must be submitted through e-mail to Casie 

Colalella at casie.colalella@pacyber.org by August 1, 2014.   
PA Cyber’s responses will be posted to the PA Cyber 
website at: www.pacyber.org. 

 
Site Visit:                           PSCs may want to conduct a site visit of PA Cyber's school 

facilities.  A site visit can be arranged by contacting Casie 
Colalella at casie.colalella@pacyber.org  All site visits should 
be completed before the proposal deadline of August 11, 2014. 
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PROPOSAL WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS 

 
Each party represents that it has the authority under law to execute, deliver and 
perform the services proposed in their proposal and to incur the obligations provided 
for under this RFP, that its actions have been duly and validly authorized, and that it 
will adopt any and all resolutions or expenditure approvals required for execution of 
any Professional Services Agreement that results from the proposal. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

METHOD OF EVALUATION 
 

PA Cyber’s Board will consider the dollar amount of the base proposal and any 
guaranteed savings, along with the ability of the PSC to perform, in determining the 
award of any contract.  PA Cyber expects to receive the highest quality of professional 
services available in the industry at a competitive cost.  Other factors that shall receive 
considerable weight shall include, but not be limited to: 

 
1. Experience in providing cyber charter school professional services; 

2. Reputation for meeting state and federal standards and requirements; 

3. References regarding financial viability of the PSC; 

4. Reputation and business references for professional services and 
reliability; 

5. Long-term experience in Kindergarten through Twelfth Grade; 

6. Industry credentials and certifications; and, 

7. The range and scope of professional services provided. 
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SPECIFIC REQUIREMENTS FOR PROPOSAL 
 

1. Furnish a list or lists of current school clients, including the name and 
telephone number of a contact person at the school, whom a PA Cyber 
representative may contact as references.  Proposals are limited to PSCs 
with experience providing comprehensive professional services for schools 
with large student populations.  Also, include a list of all schools or other 
companies, along with name of contact person, where the PSC's contract 
was not renewed or defaulted in the last five (5) years. 

2. Based on PA Cyber data available for the current school year, provide 
figures for anticipated budgets, staffing, and salaries for the 2015-2016 
school year. 

3. Provide the corporate or individual history of the PSC submitting the 
proposal including, at a minimum, years in business, domicile, and key 
employees. 

4. Include with the proposal an audited financial report, statement or the 
equivalent, for the PSC’s past three fiscal years. 

5. Provide resumes summarizing the experience and qualifications of 
possible on-site managers and employees, who will be primarily 
responsible for the performance of the contract.  The parties will both 
agree on qualifications necessary to fill the manager position.  PA Cyber 
will require the successful manager to remain at the school for a 
minimum of two (2) years before being transferred, with no more than 
two (2) managers during the initial contract period.  All managers must 
have the appropriate clearances described in paragraph 6. 

6. Include an organizational chart showing the staffing and lines of 
authority for key personnel anticipated to be used in performing the 
contract.  The PSC shall also confirm  in writing that it agrees to pay 
the costs  associated with  criminal history checks and criminal records 
checks required under the contract and which are accomplished in order 
to comply with fingerprinting and background check requirements of 
the Pennsylvania School Code. 
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7. Include a summary by  narrative, brochure, chart, or other means showing 
the PSC’s special qualifications and philosophy that give the PSC the 
ability to satisfy all proposal requirements, including but not limited to 
the following: 

a. Administrative facility operation and maintenance services; 

b. Back Office Support including: 

i. Budgets;  

ii. PDE required reporting; 

iii. Coordination and assistance as required with payroll and 
auditing support;  

iv. Assist in maintaining financial records; 

v. Compile in-house monthly financial statements as 
requested by the Charter School; and, 

vi. Assist with accounts payable and receivable; 

c. Charter Renewal Support; 

d. Compliance Management; 

e. Financial Policies and Procedures recommendations;  

f. Marketing; 

g. Professional Technology Services including: 

i. Assistance with technology procurement; 

ii. Best Practices; 

iii. Disaster recovery; 

iv. Evaluate software and equipment; 

v. Infrastructure; and, 

vi. Provide technology support staff. 

h. Project Management Services; 

i. Provide general business advice regarding operation of school; and 
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j. Public relations services. 

 
Should a PSC wish to bid on only a limited number of the enumerated 
services, the PSC must specifically identify the services that will be 
provided and how the PSC would interface with the provider(s) of the 
remaining services. 
 

8. PA Cyber employees currently provide certain business-related 
functions that are excluded from this RFP.  PA Cyber employees 
performing these services will coordinate with the PSC in a manner 
mutually agreeable to the Charter School and the PSC regarding the 
following: 

a. Billing individual school districts for students attending PA 
Cyber; 

b. Monitoring receipt of goods in warehouse locations; 

c. Payment of vendor invoices; 

d. Processing purchasing requisitions and developing purchase 
orders; and,  

e. Review of employee expenses. 

Should a PSC anticipate any difficulty interacting with PA Cyber 
employees dedicated to these services, the PSC must specifically identify 
the services that will be problematic for the PSC’s successful operation, 
the reason for the identified problem, and how the PSC proposes to 
interface with PA Cyber employees providing these services. 

9. PSCs are encouraged to review the Charter issued to PA Cyber by PDE.  
The Charter can be found on PDE’s website.  For services contained in 
their proposal, care should be taken to assure that all proposals comply 
with and address PA Cyber's obligations to PDE. 

10. The proposal should also include all estimated expenses to cover all 
costs for materials, supplies, personnel, equipment, administrative, and 
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operating expenses.  PA Cyber desires to operate on a fixed price basis 
(and/or a method or formula for subsequent years), for the length of 
the contract.  The proposal should also include any guaranteed savings.  
Alternative improvements to the current level of services may be 
included separately for consideration. 

11. The proposal should include a summary of how staff will be structured, 
retained, trained, and professionally developed. 

12. The proposal should include a summary of how the PSC will manage PA 
Cyber's payroll. 

13. The proposal should include a willingness to work with NNDS and 
NNDSMF on the successful transfer of student, faculty, and staff 
records. 

14. If you intend to propose a separation of management and personnel 
provisions, please explain in detail what company or companies you 
propose to ally with, and how the division of management and personnel 
would be coordinated. 

15. The proposal should include the utilization of Charter School buildings.  
Please refer to Appendix IV for present building configurations. 
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GENERAL CONDITIONS 

 
 

1. HOURS OF OPERATION.  Normal hours of operation are expected to be at a 
minimum 8:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., continuous Monday through Friday.  It 
should be noted that PA Cyber currently has a waiver from PDE to operate 
an extended school year. 

2. CHARACTER.  It is recognized that, for the protection of the children, all 
persons affiliated with and/or employed by the PSC must be of stable 
personality and of the highest moral character. 

3. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  The proposal shall at all times observe and 
comply with all laws,  ordinances, regulations and codes  of the federal,  
state,  county and other local government agencies, which may in any 
manner  affect the performance of the contract.  The PSC, as an employer, 
shall  not discriminate against any worker, employee or applicant, or any 
member  of the public because of race, creed, color, age,  sex or  national  
origin,  nor  otherwise commit  an  unfair  employment practice. 

4. INCURRED COSTS.  PA                 Cyber is not liable for any cost incurred by the 
PSC prior to the signing of a contract by all parties. 

5. CONTRACTOR NOT AN AGENT.  Unless otherwise stated in the final 
Professional Services Agreement, the PSC shall not be held or deemed in 
any way to be an agent, employee, or official office of PA Cyber, but rather 
an independent contractor furnishing professional services to PA Cyber. 

6. INDEMNIFICATION.  The PSC shall indemnify, save, and hold PA Cyber and 
PDE and all of its employees, officers, directors, subcontractors and agents 
harmless against any and all claims, demands, suits or other forms of liability 
that may arise out of, or by reason of, any noncompliance by the PSC with any 
agreements, warranties or undertakings contained in or made pursuant to this 
Agreement. 
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7. NEGOTIATION OF PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT.  PA Cyber 
reserves the right to reject any or all proposals or to award a Professional 
Services Agreement to the next most qualified PSC if the successful PSC 
does not execute a Professional Services Agreement within twenty (20) 
days after award of proposal.  At its sole discretion, PA Cyber may extend 
the date for award of the Professional Services Agreement. 

8. ETHICS IN PUBLIC CONTRACTING.  By submitting its Proposal, PSC certifies 
that its Proposal is submitted without collusion or fraud, that it has not 
offered or received any kickback or inducement from any other PSC, 
supplier, manufacturer, subcontractor, customer or other person in 
connection with its Proposal and that it has not conferred on any public 
employee or official having official responsibility for this procurement 
transaction any payment, loan, subscription, advance, deposit of money, 
employment, service or anything of more than nominal value, present or 
promised, unless consideration of substantially equal or greater value was 
exchanged. 

9. PROHIBITED CONTACT.  Registered and non-registered lobbying of PA 
Cyber staff members or Board members with respect to a pending project 
or award is prohibited during the time period between the date the RFP is 
advertised and the date a final contract is awarded.  Any contact between 
PA Cyber staff members or Board members and any representative of a 
PSC relating to a pending project or award (whether by writing, telephone, 
e-mail or otherwise) outside of properly scheduled meetings, other than as 
intended and initiated by a PA Cyber staff member or a Board member, 
shall be grounds for disqualification of the PSC from the bid process.  By 
submitting a Proposal, the PSC represents and warrants that it has not 
made, and will not make, any contact prohibited by this paragraph. 

10. CONFLICT OF INTEREST.  PSC certifies that no PA Cyber Board member, 
staff member or any PA Cyber employee has a financial or beneficial 
interest in the PSC.   
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11. TERMINATION.  Failure by the successful PSC to comply with the terms and 
conditions of this RFP or to deliver the Services identified in this RFP or the 
contract at the prices quoted shall void the contract award.  In the case of 
the successful contractor’s failure to deliver the Services in accordance with 
the contract terms and conditions, PA Cyber, after due oral or written 
notice, may procure such Services from other sources and hold the 
successful contractor responsible for any resulting additional purchase and 
administrative costs. 

12. AUDIT.  Unless the contract is a firm fixed price contract, PA Cyber shall be 
entitled to audit the books and records of the successful PSC or any 
subcontractor thereof to the extent that such books and records relate to the 
performance of the successful PSC’s contract with PA Cyber.  Accordingly, 
the successful PSC agrees, and any subcontractor thereof will agree, to 
retain all books, records and other documents relative to this RFP and the 
related contract for a period of three (3) years from the date of final 
payment under the contract for the PSC and for a period of three (3) years 
from the date of final payment under the subcontract for the subcontractor, 
unless a shorter period is otherwise authorized in writing the PA Cyber.  
By submitting a Proposal, the successful PSC grants to PA Cyber the right 
to perform, or have performed by its authorized agents and/or auditors, 
an audit of the books and records of the successful PSC.  Consequently, PA 
Cyber will have full access to, and the right to examine, any of said 
materials following the giving of reasonable notice during said period.  
PSCs ARE HEREBY NOTIFIED THAT ALL RECORDS OF ALL PERSONS 
CONTRACTING WITH PA CYBER MAY BE SUBJECT TO THE 
PENNSYLVANIA PUBLIC RECORDS ACT. 

13. TAXES.  The successful PSC shall determine, be responsible for, and pay 
any applicable taxes related to the Professional Services Agreement.  PA 
Cyber is a tax-exempt organization and shall not be billed for, nor be 
expected to pay, any taxes applicable to the Services.  A COPY OF 
DOCUMENTATION VERIFYING THE “TAX EXEMPT” STATUS OF PA  
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CYBER IS AVAILABLE AND WILL BE FURNISHED TO THE 
SUCCESSFUL PSC UPON REQUEST. 

14. SUPPORT.  The successful PSC agrees and affirms that, throughout the 
Agreement Term, it will utilize its best efforts to assist and support PA 
Cyber in addressing any problem whatsoever relating to the Professional 
Services Agreement. 

15. INSURANCE.  By submitting a Proposal in response to this RFP, the PSC 
certifies that, if awarded a contract, it will have the insurance coverage 
required for performance of the Services, if any, at the time the work 
commences.  Additionally, the PSC certifies that it will maintain this 
insurance coverage throughout the entire term of the contract and that all 
insurance coverage shall be provided by insurance companies authorized 
to sell insurance in Pennsylvania.  During the term of the contract, PA 
Cyber reserves the right to require the successful PSC to furnish certificates 
of any required insurance for the coverage required by PA Cyber, if any is 
required.   

16. CONFIDENTIAL AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION.  PA Cyber is subject to the 
Pennsylvania “Public Records Act.”  Accordingly, no claim of 
confidentiality or proprietary information in all or any portion of any 
Proposal submitted in response to this RFP will be honored unless a 
specific exemption from the Public Records Act exists and such exemption 
is cited in the Proposal.  Any claimed exemption must be specifically cited 
by page and paragraph number(s).  An incorrectly claimed exemption does 
not disqualify the PSC. 

17. ASSIGNMENT OF CONTRACT.  Upon execution, the contract shall not be 
assigned or subcontracted by the successful PSC, in whole or in part, 
without the prior written consent of PA Cyber. 

18. BINDING NATURE OF THIS RFP.  By submitting a Proposal, the PSC agrees 
to be bound by all of the provisions of this RFP.  The PSC further agrees 
that, if it becomes the successful PSC, the PSC and its heirs and assigns will 
continue to be bound by the provisions of the RFP for the duration of the 
Agreement Term except to the extent any provision hereof is explicitly 
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waived in the Agreement. 

19. APPLICABLE LAWS AND COURTS.  This RFP and any related Proposal and 
resulting contract shall be governed in all respects by the laws of the 
Commonwealth of Pennsylvania.  Jurisdiction over any matter arising in 
connection with this RFP or any related Proposal or resulting contract 
hereunder shall be held by the federal and state courts having jurisdiction 
in Beaver County, Pennsylvania. 

20. ADDITIONAL INFORMATION.  PA Cyber reserves the right to request 
clarification of information submitted and to request additional 
information of one or more PSCs. 

21. CAPTIONS.  Headings in all sections of this document are provided as a 
convenience only, and shall not affect the interpretation of this instrument, 
its attachments, and addenda. 
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The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School (“PA Cyber” or “the Charter School”) is a 

Pennsylvania public charter school whose doors are open to any qualified resident student 
of the Commonwealth.  In 1999, the Board of Directors of the Midland Borough School 
District granted PA Cyber its original charter pursuant to the Public School Code of 1949, 
as amended, and the Act 22 of 1997 (Charter Schools Act).  PA Cyber’s original charter 
allowed it to operate a public charter school at 173 Seventh Street in Midland, 
Pennsylvania, from July 1, 2000 through June 30, 2005.  The Charter School opened with 
527 students, Kindergarten through Twelfth Grades, and has grown exponentially ever 
since.  PA Cyber now educates over 10,000 students across the Commonwealth of 
Pennsylvania. 

 
The Pennsylvania Department of Education (“PDE”) has been responsible for 

renewing PA Cyber’s Charter since 2005.  The current charter is effective from July 1, 2010 
to June 30, 2015.  PA Cyber is currently preparing to submit its Charter Renewal 
application in 2015.  As a public school, PA Cyber provides its students with all of the 
programs mandated by local, state, and federal law.   

 
Since 2005, PA Cyber has contracted for services with the National Network of 

Digital Schools (“NNDS”) and its related foundation, the National Network of Digital 
Schools Management Foundation (“NNDSMF”).  The current agreement expires in 2015.  
PA Cyber wishes to explore its service options with other PSCs.  The Charter School 
wishes to engage the services of one or more PSCs with strong, tested skills that are able 
to deliver fiscally prudent services.  In this regard, PA Cyber anticipates that costs will 
be detailed on a per-service basis rather than a flat percentage fee. 

 
PA Cyber currently operates 8 buildings – Allentown, East Liberty, Erie, 

Greebsburg, Harrisburg, Philadelphia, State College, and Wexford Offices.  Of those 
buildings, NONE are owned by PA Cyber and 8 are leased on a triple net basis.  In 
addition, PA Cyber anticipates procuring another two buildings before the beginning of 
the 2014-2015 school year.  PA Cyber anticipates that the PSC will maintain operations 
in school space and is willing to commit 56480 total sq. feet.  The Charter School 
anticipates that successful PSC proposals will factor in this savings to the PSC. 

 
PA Cyber is open to receiving proposals from PSCs that may outline an alternative 

way to operate PA Cyber.  PSCs interested in submitting an alternative proposal should 
indicate in their proposal that the proposal is an “Alternative Proposal.”  An alternative 
proposal should  include  a  description  of  any  partners  the  PSC  may  consider  and  
also  contain  a description  of how the PSC and its proposed  partners would work 
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together to operate  PA Cyber. 

PSCs may also propose to provide all or a portion of the services described 
in this RFP.  PSCs may wish to propose operating only a segment of 
KINDERGARTEN THROUGH TWELFTH GRADE or a portion of the professional 
services in whatever configuration they choose.  If more than one PSC is selected to 
operate PA Cyber, PSCs are expected to demonstrate a willingness to operate in 
conjunction with another PSC in PA Cyber.  PSCs may include a brief description of 
prior experience under this type of arrangement, including an outline of perceived 
benefits and obstacles with this type of arrangement.   
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MISSION STATEMENT: 
 
Helping families build their own school... out of choices, not bricks 
 
The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School is dedicated to the success of all students who have not 
had their needs met in a traditional educational setting.  PA Cyber is dedicated to providing the 
services and educational programs using current technology necessary for these students to 
receive a high school diploma as well as to give them the opportunity to grow beyond the 
normal curriculum and confines of a traditional school setting.  PA Cyber is committed to 
providing a safe and orderly environment and protecting the health, safety, and welfare of all 
students.  It is our desire that PA Cyber students graduate and successfully procure satisfying 
employment or further their education to become independent responsible citizens. 

 
 

CURRENT ENROLLMENT: APPROXIMATELY ELEVEN THOUSAND AND TWO (11,002) AT 

THE BEGINNING OF THE 2013-2014 SCHOOL YEAR. 
 
PROJECTED ENROLLMENT: TEN THOUSAND EIGHT HUNDRED (10,008) STUDENTS FOR 

THE 2014-2015 SCHOOL YEAR 
 
SPECIAL EDUCATION POPULATION: APPROXIMATELY FOURTEEN PERCENT (14%) OF TOTAL 

STUDENT POPULATION 
 
APPROXIMATE STUDENT DEMOGRAPHICS: 
 
American Indian/Alaska Native  0% 
 
Asian      1.0% (LEA) 

 
Black or African American   8.4% (Special Ed); 9.0% (LEA) 
 
Hispanic     2.4% (Special Ed); 2.5% (LEA) 
 
Multiracial     2.7% (Special Ed); 4.2% (LEA) 
 
Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander  0% 
 
White      85.6% (Special Ed); 83.1% (LEA) 
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CHARTER SCHOOL FACILITIES INFORMATION 

 
 
 
 

PA Cyber will be using 13 buildings for the 2014/2015 school year.  The 
following is a description of the buildings, their capacity, and present use.  

Similar usage may be anticipated for the 2015/2016 school year. 
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The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School has established eight (8) facilities across the 
state to provide a regional resource for potential and currently enrolled PA Cyber 
students and families. 
 
Allentown Office:  974 Marcon Blvd, Suite 200, Allentown, PA 18109 

o Lessor:  974 Marcon Blvd, LP 
o SF:  2,450 

 

East Liberty Office:  216 North Highland Avenue, Pittsburgh, PA  15206 

o Lessor:  Wedgwood Group 
o SF:  2,100 

 

Erie Office:  2212 West 15th Street, Erie, PA  16505 

o Lessor:  10th Street Building Corporation of Erie 
o SF:  4,383 

 

Greensburg Office:  351 Harvey Avenue, Greensburg, PA  15601 

o Lessor:  2402 West Eighth Street Property, LLC 
o SF:  5,131 

 

Harrisburg Office:  479 Port View Drive, Building C-38, Harrisburg, PA  17111 

o Lessor:  Tecport Business Campus, LLC 
o SF:  18,720 

 

Philadelphia Office:  1553 Chester Pike, Suite 103, Crum Lynne, PA 19022 

o Lessor:  Chester Pike, LLC 
o SF:  13,431 

 

State College Office:  2903 Benner Pike, Bellefonte, PA  16823 (Lease Expires August 29, 
2014)   

o Lessor:  Mainstream Investments 
o SF:  1,669 
o New location effective January 1, 2015:  1700 South Atherton Street, State 

College, PA 16801 
o Lessor:  Keystone Real Estate Group, LP 
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o SF:  2,700 

 

Wexford Office:  155 Lake Drive, Wexford, PA  15090 

o Frank Zokaites 
o SF:  5,896 

 
The following is a brief description of the present uses of our regional offices: 
 

 Enrollment Appointments - The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School requires a 
face-to-face appointment for enrollment.  Parents and their children can schedule 
a face-to-face enrollment appointment at one of the physical facilities. 

 Open House Events -   Our locations occasionally hold open house events that 
are open to the general public.  These events provide interested families an 
opportunity to meet our staff, ask questions, and learn more about The 
Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School. 

 Orientation - Orientations are designed to give students and parents the training 
and support they need for a successful start at The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter 
School.  Topics covered during orientation include proper set up of equipment, 
accessing curriculum, completing and submitting assignments.  On-site 
orientation is an available option for families to choose; appointments may be 
scheduled at one of our locations. 

 Support by Appointment - Students in need of assistance can schedule an 
appointment to receive support at any of our locations.  Students can receive 
help with a variety of topics including organizational skills, an orientation 
refresher, and support on particular course assignments. 

 Art Reach - The Art Reach program provides supplemental programs in the arts, 
including online and in-person workshops, classes, seminars, performances, and 
other special presentations in music, theatre, dance, creative writing, and visual 
arts. 

 Educational and Social Enrichment Activities - Throughout the school year, our 
locations offer various educational and social enrichment opportunities.  These 
services include guidance workshops, standardized test preparation, parent-
planned informal social events, and Student Assistance Program workshops. 

Midland Offices: 

o 617 Midland Ave, Midland, PA 15059 
o SF: 17,808 

o 652 Midland Ave, Midland, PA 15059 
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o SF: 30,104 
o 722 Midland Ave, Midland, PA 15059 (Leased) 

o Lessor:  Southbound Homes, Inc. 
o SF:  9,158 

o 735 Midland Ave, Midland, PA 15059 
o SF: 25,235 

o 1200 Midland Ave, Midland, PA 15059 
o SF: 14,750 

The 5 Midland offices are primarily used to house employees.  These buildings do 
not conduct onsite services with the exception of enrollment appointments. 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors

Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Pennsylvania Cyber Charter
School, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise the Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's basic financial statements as listed in the table
of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of
these financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the
aggregate remaining fund information of the Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School, as of June 30, 2013, and the
respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof and the respective budgetary
comparison for the General Fund, for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

(Continued)

1



Deluzio
M -#V & COMPANY. 1.1.1'

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

(Continued)

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's
discussion and analysis and the schedule of funding progress presented on pages i through vii and 28, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic
financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary
information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the
information for consistency with management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and
other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion
or provided any assurance on the information because limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient
evidence to express and an opinion or provided any assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's basic financial statements as a whole. The accompanying
schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for purposes of additional analysis as required by U.S.
Office of Management and Budget Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit
Organizations, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial
statements.

The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is the responsibility of management and was derived from and
relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. Such
information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and
certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or the financial statements themselves,
and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States
of America. In our opinion, the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards is fairly stated in all material
respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with GovernmentAuditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated December 3, 2013,
on our consideration of the Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's internal control over financial reporting and
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements and
other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over
financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the internal
control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's
internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

UiluMC- <& \jbMfy6AM iLLC
Greensburg, Pennsylvania
December 3, 2013
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Our discussion and analysis of the Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School’s (The School) financial performance 
provides an overview of the School’s financial activities for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013.  Please review 
this information in conjunction with the School’s financial statements that begin on page 3. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
Bolstered by a reputation for providing Pennsylvania families with exceptional, student-centered service, the 
School continued to experience growth in enrollment during fiscal year 2012-2013.  
 

Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School 
Student Enrollment 

Source: LEA May Enrollment Summaries 
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The School’s total assets exceeded total liabilities as of June 30, 2013 by $68,786,059.  As of June 30, 2013, 
the School reported an unassigned ending fund balance of $7,362,611 that may be used at the School’s 
discretion.  This amount equates to 6.78% of total General Fund Expenditures.  The $7,362,611 balance 
represents a $3,813,217 or 107.43% increase from the June 30, 2012 balance of $3,549,394.   
 
The School’s governmental fund balance was $29,872,574 as of June 30, 2013 and consisted of the following: 
 

Nonspendable – Prepaids and Deposits    $       92,356 
Committed: 

  Increases in Healthcare Premiums    $  3,096,294 
  Retirement (PSERS) Contributions    $10,740,965 

 
These represent the segregation of a portion of the fund balance indicating that 
assets equal to the amount are set aside for future rate changes and are, therefore, 
not available for appropriations. 

Assigned: 
  Future Facilities Acquisition    $  4,803,735 
  Future Legal Obligations     $     890,901 
  Future OPEB Obligations     $     382,069 
  Balancing the 2013-2014 General Fund Budget  $  2,274,343 
  Future Board Approved Purchase Obligations  $     229,300 
 

  Unassigned       $  7,362,611 
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USING THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENT REPORT 
 
This Basic Financial Statement Report consists of the Management Discussion and Analysis and a series of 
financial statements and notes to those statements.  The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities, 
on pages 3 and 4, provide information about the activities of the School as a whole and present a longer-term 
view of the School’s financial position.  Fund Financial Statements provide the next level of detail. For 
governmental funds, these statements tell how services were financed in the short-term as well as what remains 
for future spending.  There are two parts to the Fund financial Statements: 1) the governmental funds 
statement; and 2) the proprietary fund statement.  Lastly, the financial statements include notes that explain 
some of the information in the financial statements and provide more detailed data. 
 
Figure A-1 shows how the required parts of the Financial Section are arranged and relate to one another. 

 
Figure A-1 

Required Components of 
Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School’s 

Financial Report 

 
 
REPORTING THE SCHOOL AS A WHOLE 
 
Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities 
 
While this document contains the funds used by the School to provide programs and activities, the view of the 
School as a whole looks at all financial transactions and asks the question, “How did we do financially during 
Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2013?”  The Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities answer this 
question.  These statements include all assets and liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting similar to the 
accounting used by most private-sector companies.  This basis of accounting takes into account all of the 
current year’s revenues and expenses regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
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Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities (Continued) 
 
These two statements report the School’s net position and changes in net position.  This change in net position 
is important because it tells the reader, for the School as a whole, whether the financial position of the School 
has improved or diminished.  The causes of this change may be the result of many factors, some financial, 
some not.  Non-financial factors include the current charter school laws in Pennsylvania concerning funding, 
availability of facilities, required educational programs, mandated services and other factors. 
 
OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
Government-Wide Statements 
 
The government-wide statements report information about the School as a whole using accounting methods 
similar to those used by private-sector companies.  The Statement of Net Position includes all of the School’s 
assets and liabilities.  All of the current year’s revenues and expenses are accounted for in the Statement of 
Activities regardless of when cash is received or paid. 
 
The two government-wide statements report the School’s net position and how it has changed.  Net position, 
the difference between the School’s assets and liabilities, are one way to measure the School’s financial health 
or position. 
 
Over time, increases or decreases in the School’s net position is an indication of whether its financial health is 
improving or deteriorating, respectively. 
 
To assess the overall health of the School, you need to consider additional non-financial factors, such as 
changes in the School’s enrollment (growth) and the academic achievement of the students. 
 
In the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities, the School shows the following kinds of 
activities: 
 

 Governmental activities – Most of the School’s basic services are included here, such as 
instruction, support services, operation and maintenance of plant, and administrative services.  
Tuition, state and federal subsidies and grants finance most of these activities. 

 
REPORTING THE CHARTER SCHOOL’S MOST SIGNIFICANT FUNDS 
 
Fund Financial Statements 
 
Fund financial statements provide detailed information about the most significant funds—not the School as a 
whole.  Some funds are required by state law. 

 
Governmental funds – Most of the School’s activities are reported in governmental funds, which focus on the 
determination of financial position and change in financial position, not on income determination.  They are 
reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting, which measures cash and all other 
financial assets that can readily be converted to cash.  The governmental fund statements provide a detailed 
short-term view of the School’s operations and the services it provides.  Governmental fund information helps 
the reader determine whether there are more or fewer financial resources that can be spent in the near future to 
finance the School’s programs.  The relationship (or differences) between governmental activities (reported in 
the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is reflected in a 
reconciliations on pages 6 and 8. 
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REPORTING THE CHARTER SCHOOL’S MOST SIGNIFICANT FUNDS (CONTINUED) 
 
Fund Financial Statements (Continued) 
 
Proprietary funds – The School maintains one proprietary fund.  The internal service fund is an accounting 
device used to accumulate and allocate costs internally among the School’s various functions.  The School uses 
the internal service fund to account for its self funded health insurance.  Because these services benefit 
governmental rather than business-type functions, they have been included within governmental activities in 
the government-wide financial statements. 
 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL AS A WHOLE 
 
The School’s total net position was $68,786,060 at June 30, 2013 and $57,368,187 at June 30, 2012. 
 

June 30, 2013 June 30, 2012
Current and other assets 38,685,431$   24,890,904$   
Capital assets 30,015,368     32,892,292     
Noncurrent assets 6,886,950       7,241,762       

Total Assets 75,587,749     65,024,958     

Current and other liabilities 5,804,055       7,656,771       
Long-term liabilities 997,634          -                  

Total Liabilities 6,801,689       7,656,771       

Net Position:
Net investment in Capital Assets 30,015,368     32,892,292     
Unrestricted 38,770,692     24,475,895     

Total Net Position 68,786,060$  57,368,187$  

Table A-1
Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2013 and June 30, 2012

 
The results of this year’s operations as a whole are reported in the Statement of Activities on page 4.  All 
operating expenses are reported in the first column.  Specific charges, grants, revenues, and subsidies that 
directly relate to specific expense categories are presented to determine the final amount of the School’s 
activities that are supported by other general revenues.  The largest general revenue is tuition charged to local 
educational agencies for enrolled students residing in those educational agencies. 
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL AS A WHOLE (CONTINUED) 
 
Table A-2 takes the information from the Statement of Activities, rearranges it slightly, so you can see total 
revenues for the year.  Prior year information is also provided for a comparative analysis of government-wide 
data. 
 
 

Revenues June 30, 2013 June 30, 2012
Program revenues:
Operating grants and contributions 6,237,629$      5,593,995$      

General Revenues:
Payments from local educational agencies 113,404,383    109,448,196    
Grants, subsidies, and contributions not restricted 2,267,129        -                       
Investment earnings 1,481               3,920               
Miscellaneous income 70,074             461,767           
Total revenues 121,980,696    115,507,878    

Expenses
Instruction 69,154,302      70,160,962      
Support Services 35,065,503      34,289,856      
Unallocated depreciation 6,136,938        5,243,628        
Non-Instructional Services 206,080           308,930           
Total exepnses 110,562,823    110,003,376    

Increase in net position 11,417,873      5,504,502        

Net Position, beginning 57,368,187      51,863,685      

Net Position, ending 68,786,060$   57,368,187$   

Table A-2
Changes in Net Position

Fiscal Years ended June 30, 2013, and 2012
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE SCHOOL AS A WHOLE (CONTINUED) 
 
The tables below present the expenses of the Governmental Activities of the School. 
 
Tables A-3 and A-4 show the School’s four largest functions—instructional programs, support programs, non-
instructional programs and unallocated depreciation as well as each program’s net cost (total cost less revenues 
generated by the activities).  These tables also show the net costs offset by the other unrestricted grants, 
subsidies and contributions to show the remaining financial needs supported by local and other miscellaneous 
revenues.  Prior year information is again provided to allow for a comparative analysis. 
 

Function/Programs
Total Cost of 

Service 
Net Cost of 
Services 

Instruction 69,154,302$     64,129,850$     
Support Services 35,065,503       33,874,905       
Unallocated Depreciation 6,136,938         6,136,938         
Non-Instructional Services 206,080            183,501            
Total governmental activities 110,562,823$   104,325,194$   

Total needs from local and other revenues 104,325,194$   

Table A-3
Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2013

Governmental Activities

 
 
 

Function/Programs
Total Cost of 

Service 
Net Cost of 
Services 

Instruction 70,160,962$     65,623,674$     
Support Services 34,289,856       33,251,588       
Unallocated depreciation 5,243,628         5,243,628         
Non-Instructional Services 308,930            290,491            
Total governmental activities 110,003,376$   104,409,381$   

Total needs from local and other revenues 104,409,381$   

Table A-4
Fiscal Year ended June 30, 2012

Governmental Activities

 
 
THE SCHOOL’S FUNDS 
 
The General Fund, which accounts for the School’s operations, had an unassigned fund balance of $7,362,611 
as noted on page 5.  This represents an increase of $3,813,217 from 2011-2012 operations.  
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General Fund Budgeting Highlights 
 
The School’s budget is prepared according to Pennsylvania law and is based on accounting for certain 
transactions on a basis of cash receipts, disbursements, and encumbrances.  The only budgeted fund is the 
General Operating Fund. 
 
For the General Operating Fund, budgeted revenue and other financing sources were in the amount of 
$123,569,727.  Actual revenues and other financing sources were slightly more than this budget amount by 
approximately $780,000.  This was mainly due to greater than anticipated student enrollment and less than 
anticipated reductions to tuition rates.  The expenditures were budgeted at $123,569,727.  Actual expenditures 
were less than budgeted expenditures by approximately $14.9 million, due to reduced curriculum rates and the 
use of existing operational funds rather than commercial loans negating financing expenses, and to operating 
efficiencies.  A schedule showing the School’s original and final budget amounts compared with amounts 
actually paid and received is provided on page 12. 

 
CAPITAL ASSET AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital Assets 
 
At June 30, 2013, the School’s Governmental Activities had $30,015,368 invested in a broad range of capital 
assets, including land, buildings and improvements, furniture and equipment.  This amount represents a net 
decrease of $2,876,924 from last year.  The decrease in capital assets is primarily due to depreciation 
exceeding additions. 
 
More detailed information regarding the School’s capital assets is included in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements. 
 
ECONOMIC FACTORS AND BUDGETS  
 
Though the cyber charter school concept is now widely-accepted as a viable and indeed necessary educational 
model, the issue concerning how cyber charter schools are funded will likely remain contentious in the 
foreseeable future. Nevertheless, the demand for the type and quality of services provided by the School 
continues to grow. The success of the School has created hundreds of new jobs in and around the community 
of Midland as more professional and support staff are needed to serve the growing roster of students. As a 
state-wide school, the School is also establishing a physical presence in key areas across Pennsylvania. 
Furthermore, the innovations – technological and educational – pioneered by the School are helping to 
establish Pennsylvania as a leader in the development of 21st century learning strategies for public education. 
 
The rapid growth within the School puts additional burdens on the administration as each year requires 
increases to staff, educational programs, support services, and extracurricular activities to meet student needs 
and demand.  Facilities must continually be updated and expanded to meet these enrollment trends.  The need 
for additional staff working space is a continual concern. 
 
CONTACTING THE SCHOOL FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT 
 
Our financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, parents, students, investors and creditors 
with a general overview of the School’s finances and to show the School Board of Directors accountability for 
the money it receives.  If you have questions about this report or wish to request additional financial 
information, contact Matthew Schulte, Senior Administrator, at Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School, 652 
Midland Avenue, Midland, Pennsylvania 15059. 



Governmental
ASSETS Activities
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 18,586,917$             
Intergovernmental Receivables, net 19,681,956               
Other Receivables 71,152                      
Current Portion of Note Receivable 340,000                    
Deposits 25                             
Prepaid Expenses 5,381                        

Total Current Assets 38,685,431               

Noncurrent Assets
Land 1,079,829                 
Building and Improvements (net of depreciation) 17,606,716               
Furniture and Equipment (net of depreciation) 1,569,773                 
Computer Equipment (net of depreciation) 9,759,050                 
Deposits 86,950                      
Note Receivable 6,800,000                 

Total Noncurrent Assets 36,902,318               

TOTAL ASSETS 75,587,749               

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Intergovernmental Payables 964                           

Accounts Payable 3,534,555                 

Claims and Judgments Payable 275,336                    
Accrued Salaries & Benefits 523,524                    
Retirement Payable 910,532                    
Other Payables 2,200                        
Accrued Healthcare Costs 556,944                    

Total Current Liabilities 5,804,055                 

Noncurrent Liabilities

Claims and Judgments Payable 615,565                    
Postemployment Benefits 382,069                    

Total Noncurrent Liabilities 997,634                    

Total Liabilities 6,801,689                 

NET POSITION

Net Investment in Capital Assets 30,015,368               
Unrestricted 38,770,692               

TOTAL NET POSITION 68,786,060$             

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

AS OF JUNE 30, 2013

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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Net (Expense) 
Revenue and 

Changes in Net 
Position

Operating Capital
Charges for Grants and Grants and Governmental

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions Activities
Governmental Activities:
 Instruction:
   Regular Instruction 55,836,501$    -$                  3,353,662$    -$                   (52,482,839)$   
   Special Instruction 13,317,801      -                    1,670,790      -                     (11,647,011)     
   Vocational Instruction -                      -                    -                     -                     -                       
   Other Instructional Programs -                      -                    -                     -                     -                       
   Higher Education Programs -                    -                  -                    -                    -                     

Total Instructional Services 69,154,302    -                  5,024,452    -                    (64,129,850)   

Support Services:
   Pupil Personnel 6,844,394        -                    382,768         -                     (6,461,626)       
   Instructional Staff 1,087,092        -                    350,549         -                     (736,543)          
   Administration 5,660,728        -                    173,698         -                     (5,487,030)       
   Pupil Health 311,063           -                    185,161         -                     (125,902)          
   Business Services 17,865,012      -                    40,814           -                     (17,824,198)     
   Operation of Plant and Maintenance Services 2,028,969        -                    -                     -                     (2,028,969)       
   Student Transportation Services -                      -                    -                     -                     -                       
   Support Services - Central 1,268,245      -                  57,608         -                    (1,210,637)     

Total Support Services 35,065,503    -                  1,190,598    -                    (33,874,905)   

Non-Instructional Services:
   Student Activities 109,452           -                    -                     -                     (109,452)          
   Food Services -                      -                    -                     -                     -                       
   Community Services 23,418             -                    22,579           -                     (839)                 
   Facilities -                      -                    -                     -                     -                       
   Interest on Long-Term Debt 52,670             -                    -                     -                     (52,670)            
   Other Expense 20,540             -                    -                     -                     (20,540)            
   Unallocated Depreciation Expense 6,136,938      -                  -                    -                    (6,136,938)     

Total Non-Instructional Services 6,343,018      -                  22,579         -                    (6,320,439)     

Total Governmental Activities 110,562,823$ -$                 6,237,629$   -$                  (104,325,194) 

General Revenues:
   
Payments from Local Educational Agencies 113,404,383     
Grants, Subsidies, & Contributions not Restricted 2,267,129         
Investment Earnings 1,481                
(Loss) on Disposal of Capital Assets (8,754)              
Miscellaneous Income 78,828              

Total General Revenues 115,743,067   

Change in Net Position 11,417,873       

Net Position — Beginning 57,368,187     

Net Position — Ending 68,786,060$     

Program Revenues

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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ASSETS General

Cash and Cash Equivalents 15,036,581$             
Intergovernmental Receivables 19,681,956               
Other Receivables 33,456                      
Deposits 86,975                      
Prepaid Expenses 5,381                        

TOTAL ASSETS 34,844,349$             

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES

LIABILITIES 
Intergovernmental Payables 964$                         
Accounts Payable 3,534,555                 
Accrued Salaries and Benefits 523,524                    
Retirement Payable 910,532                    
Other Payables 2,200                        

TOTAL LIABILITIES 4,971,775                 

FUND BALANCES
Nonspendable - Prepaids and Deposits 92,356                      
Spendable

Committed To:
Future PSERS Retirement Rate Increases 10,740,965               
Future Healthcare Cost Increases 3,096,294                 

Assigned To:
Future Facilities Acquisition 4,803,735                 
Future Board Approved Purchase Obligations 229,300                    
Future OPEB Obligations 382,069                    
Future Legal Obligations 890,901                    
Future Budget Deficit 2,274,343                 

Unassigned 7,362,611                 

TOTAL FUND BALANCES 29,872,574               

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES 34,844,349$             

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

AS OF JUNE 30, 2013

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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TOTAL FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 29,872,574$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are
different because:

Capital Assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources and
therefore are not reported as assets in governmental funds. 

Cost of all capital assets 48,880,011      
Less Accumulated Depreciation (18,864,643)     

Note receivable is utilized in the governmental activities as a financial resource and is
not reported as an asset in the governmental funds.

Current portion 340,000           
Long term portion 6,800,000        

Certain liabilities are not due and payable in the current period and therefore are not
reported in the government funds.

Other Post Employment Benefits (382,069)          
Claims and Judgments Payable (890,901)          

The internal service fund is used by management to account for medical benefits of
the School's employees. The assets and liabilities of the internal service fund are
included in the governmental activities in the statement of net position. 3,031,088        

TOTAL NET POSITION  -  GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 68,786,060$    

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET

TO THE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION
AS OF JUNE 30, 2013

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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General
REVENUES
Local Sources 117,352,869$       
State Sources 2,542,145             
Federal Sources 2,434,436             
TOTAL REVENUES 122,329,450         

EXPENDITURES
Instruction 71,838,049           
Support Services 34,609,161           
Non-Instructional Services 132,870                
Miscellaneous 20,540                  
Capital Outlay 7,804                    
Debt Service 2,052,670             

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 108,661,094         

Excess of Revenues Over Expenditures 13,668,356           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Proceeds of Extended Term Financing 2,000,000             
Sale of Fixed Assets 20,434                  

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES 2,020,434             

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 15,688,790           

FUND BALANCE - JULY 1, 2012 14,183,784           

FUND BALANCE - JUNE 30, 2013 29,872,574$         

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

GOVERNMENTAL FUND TYPES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 15,688,790$    

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are
different because:

Capital outlays are reported in governmental funds as expenditures. However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful
lives as depreciation expense.

Add: Capital Outlays - Net 3,289,202$  
Less: Depreciation Expense (6,136,938)  (2,847,736)       

The portion of the Notes Receivable which was collected in the current year is treated
as revenue on the fund statements, while, on the government-wide statements, it is
treated as a reduction to Notes Receivable. (340,000)          

Certain items reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in the governmental
funds.

Other Post Employment Benefits Expense (95,650)            
Claims and Judgments Payable (890,901)          

Loss on disposition of fixed assets. (29,188)            

The internal service fund is used by management to account for medical benefits of
the School employees. The net (loss) of the activity of the internal service is reported
with governmental activities. (67,442)            

CHANGE IN NET POSITION OF GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES 11,417,873$    

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES
TO THE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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 Governmental 
Activities - Internal 

Service Fund 

 Health Insurance 
Fund 

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents 3,550,337$                    
Accounts Receivable 37,695                           

Total Current Assets 3,588,032                      

TOTAL ASSETS 3,588,032                      

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Accrued Healthcare Costs 556,944                         

Total Current Liabilities 556,944                         

TOTAL LIABLITIES 556,944                         

NET POSITION

Unrestricted 3,031,088                      

TOTAL NET POSITION 3,031,088$                    

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

AS OF JUNE 30, 2013
PROPRIETARY FUND

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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Governmental 
Activities - Internal 

Service Fund

Health Insurance   
Fund

OPERATING REVENUES
Charges for Services 5,604,017$                    

Total Operating Revenues 5,604,017                      

OPERATING EXPENSES
Cost of Services 4,960,241                      
Administrative 711,218                         

Total Operating Expenses 5,671,459                      

Operating Loss (67,442)                         

OPERATING TRANSFERS

Transfers from General Fund -                                

Change in Net Position (67,442)                         

NET POSITION - JULY 1, 2012 3,098,530                      

NET POSITION - JUNE 30, 2013 3,031,088$                    

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENSES, AND CHANGES IN NET POSITION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013
PROPRIETARY FUND

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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Governmental 
Activities - Internal 

Service Fund

Health Insurance   
Fund

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from Interfund Services Provided 5,604,017$                    
Cash Payments to Suppliers, net (5,586,686)                    

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 17,331                           

Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 17,331                           

Cash and Cash Equivalents - July 1, 2012 3,533,006                      

Cash and Cash Equivalents - June 30, 2013 3,550,337$                    

Reconciliation of Change in Net Position to Net Cash Provided by

Operating Activities

Operating (Loss) (67,442)$                       

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease in Accounts Receivable 628,298                         
Increase in Accrued Healthcare Costs (543,525)                       

Net Cash Provided By Operating Activities 17,331$                         

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013
PROPRIETARY FUND

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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Variance with

Final Budget Budget to Actual 

Actual Positive GAAP Amounts

Original Final (Budgetary  Basis) (Negative) Difference GAAP basis

REVENUES

Local Revenues 113,506,548$       113,506,548$       117,352,869$       3,846,321$           -$                          117,352,869$       

State Program Revenues 2,709,810             2,709,810             2,542,145             (167,665)              -                            2,542,145             

Federal Program Revenues 2,333,369             2,333,369             2,434,436             101,067                -                            2,434,436             

TOTAL REVENUES 118,549,727         118,549,727         122,329,450         3,779,723             -                            122,329,450         

EXPENDITURES

Regular Programs 65,761,009           65,761,009           58,527,105           7,233,904             -                            58,527,105           

Special Programs 13,880,125           13,880,125           13,310,944           569,181                -                            13,310,944           

Vocational Programs -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

Other Instructional Programs -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

Adult Education Programs -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

Community/Junior College Ed Programs -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

Pupil Personnel Services 7,136,837             7,136,837             6,834,286             302,551                -                            6,834,286             

Instructional Staff Services 1,401,631             1,401,631             1,086,177             315,454                -                            1,086,177             

Administrative Services 3,544,164             3,544,164             4,766,257             (1,222,093)           -                            4,766,257             

Pupil Health 328,958                328,958                310,388                18,570                  -                            310,388                

Business Services 18,292,609           18,292,609           17,863,832           428,777                -                            17,863,832           

Operation & Maintenance of Plant Services 4,328,653             4,328,653             2,195,477             2,133,176             -                            2,195,477             

Student Transportation Services -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

Central & Other Support Services 2,371,229             2,371,229             1,552,744             818,485                -                            1,552,744             

Food Services -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

Student Activities 124,553                124,553                109,452                15,101                  -                            109,452                

Community Services 22,357                  22,357                  23,418                  (1,061)                  -                            23,418                  

Scholarships and Awards -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            -                            

Facilities Acquisition and Construction 1,100,000             1,100,000             7,804                    1,092,196             -                            7,804                    

Miscellaneous 58,175                  58,175                  20,540                  37,635                  -                            20,540                  

Debt Service 5,219,427             5,219,427             2,052,670             3,166,757             -                            2,052,670             

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 123,569,727         123,569,727         108,661,094         14,908,633           -                            108,661,094         

Excess (Deficiency) of Revenues Over Expenditures (5,020,000)           (5,020,000)           13,668,356           18,688,356           -                            13,668,356           

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)

Procceed from Extended Term Financing 5,000,000             5,000,000             2,000,000             (3,000,000)           -                            2,000,000             

Sale or Compensation for Loss of Fixed Assets 20,000                  20,000                  20,434                  434                       -                            20,434                  

TOTAL OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES) 5,020,000             5,020,000             2,020,434             (2,999,566)           -                            2,020,434             

Net Change in Fund Balances -                            -                            15,688,790           15,688,790           -                            15,688,790           

Fund Balance - July 1, 2012 12,319,936           12,319,936           14,183,784           1,863,848             -                            14,183,784           

Fund Balance - June 30, 2013 12,319,936$         12,319,936$         29,872,574$         17,552,638$         -$                          29,872,574$         

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL

Budgeted Amounts

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCE, BUDGET AND ACTUAL
GENERAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

See Accompanying Notes to The Financial Statements.
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NOTE 1 - REPORTING ENTITY 
 

The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School (The School) was formed under the laws of the state of 
Pennsylvania to provide elementary and secondary education to students through a computer managed 
learning system designed to meet individual student’s needs and styles.  

 
A reporting entity is comprised of the primary government, component units, and other organizations that are 
included to ensure that the financial statements of the School are not misleading. The primary government 
consists of all funds, departments, boards, and agencies that are not legally separate from the School.  For the 
School, this includes general operations and student related activities of the School. 
 

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the School is financially accountable.  The 
School is financially accountable for an organization if the School appoints a voting majority of the 
organization’s governing board and (1) the School is able to significantly influence the programs or services 
performed or provided by the organization; or (2) the School is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the 
organization’s resources; the School is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to 
finance the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization; or the School is obligated for the 
debt of the organization.  Component units may also include organizations that are fiscally dependent on the 
School in that the School approves the budget or the issuance of debt.  The School does not have any 
component units. 

 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The financial statements of the School have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles in the United States of America (GAAP).  The Governmental Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB) is responsible for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its pronouncements 
(Statements and Interpretations).  The more significant accounting policies established in GAAP and used by 
the School are described below. 

 
A. Basis of Presentation 
 

The School’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of net 
position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed level of 
financial information. 
 
During the year, the School implemented GASB Statement No. 63, Financial Reporting of Deferred 
Outflows of Resources, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position.  This Statement provides a new 
statement of net position format to report all assets, deferred outflows of resources, liabilities, deferred 
inflows of resources, and net position.  A deferred outflow of resources is a consumption of net assets that is 
applicable to a future reporting period while a deferred inflow of resources is an acquisition of net assets that 
is applicable to a future reporting period.  This standard also amends certain provisions of GASB Statement 
No. 34 and related pronouncements to reflect the residual measure in the statement of financial position as 
net position, rather than net assets. 

 
Government-wide financial statements – The statement of net position and the statement of activities 
display information about the School as a whole.  These statements include the financial activities of the 
overall government.  Eliminations have been made to minimize the double counting of internal activities.   

  



PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013 

 14

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

Government-wide financial statements (continued) 
 
The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-type 
activities of the School at year-end.  The statement of activities presents a comparison between direct 
expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the School’s governmental and business-
type activities.  Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program or 
department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function.  Program revenues include charges paid 
by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants and contributions that are restricted 
to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular program and interest earned on grants that 
is required to be used to support a particular program.  Revenues which are not classified as program 
revenues are presented as general revenues of the School, with certain limited exceptions.  The comparison 
of direct expenses with program revenues identifies the extent to which each business activity or 
governmental function is self-financing or draws from the general revenues of the School. 
 
Fund financial statements – During the year, the School segregates transactions related to certain School 
functions or activities in separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal 
compliance.  Fund financial statements are designed to present financial information of the School at this 
more detailed level.  The focus of governmental and enterprise fund financial statements is on major funds.  
Each major fund is presented in a separate column.  Non-major funds, if any, are aggregated and presented in 
a single column.  The fiduciary funds, if any, are reported by type.   
 
Proprietary fund financial statements – The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination 
of operating income, changes in net position, financial position, and cash flows. The generally accepted 
accounting principles applicable are those similar to businesses in the private sector.  The School reports the 
internal service fund as a proprietary fund.  An internal service fund accounts for operations that provide 
services to other departments of the School on a cost reimbursement basis.  The Health Insurance Fund 
accounts for the employees’ self-insured medical and dental benefits.  Because the principal users of the 
internal services are the School’s governmental activities, the financial statement of the internal service fund 
is consolidated into the governmental column when presented in the government-wide financial statements. 

 
B. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting 

 
The government-wide and proprietary fund financial statements are reported using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses 
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar 
items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been 
met. 

 
The School uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year.  A fund is defined as a fiscal and 
accounting entity with a self-balancing set of accounts.  There are three categories of funds: governmental, 
proprietary and fiduciary. 
 
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement 
focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.  Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both 
measurable and available.  Revenues are considered to be available when they are collectible within the 
current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period.  For this purpose, the School 
considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 180 days of the end of the current fiscal 
period.  Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.  
However, debt service expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences, early 
retirement, arbitrage rebates, and post-employment healthcare benefits, are recorded only when payment is 
due.  
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
B. Measurement Focus/Basis of Accounting (continued) 

 
The School reports the following major governmental fund: 
 
General Fund—The General Fund is the operating fund of the School and is used to account for all financial 
resources except those required to be accounted for in another fund. 

 
Additionally, the School reports the following proprietary fund type: 

 
Internal Service Fund - accounts for risk management and health insurance costs provided to departments of 
the School. 

 
C. Budgetary Process 

 
The School passed an appropriated budget for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2013 with revenues totaling 
$123,569,727 and expenditures totaling $123,569,727.  

 
The School is required by state law to adopt an annual budget for the General Fund.  The budget is presented 
on the modified accrual basis of accounting, which is consistent with generally accepted accounting 
principles (“GAAP”). 

 
The following procedures are followed in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the financial 
statements: 

 
1. The School prepares a budget for the next succeeding fiscal year. The operating budget includes 

proposed expenditures and the means of financing them. 
2. The School adopts a proposed budget, after ten days’ public notice of the meeting has been given.  
3. Prior to July 1, the budget is legally enacted via resolution of the School. 
4. The Budget for the general fund must be filed with the Office of Public Instruction within fifteen (15) 

days after the adoption of the budget.  
 

Final Budget: The final budget for each year must be adopted (via Board vote) by June 30 of the preceding 
school fiscal year. 
 
Once the budget is approved, it can be amended at the Function and Fund level only by approval of a 
majority of the members of the School Board.  Amendments are presented to the Board at their regular 
meetings.  Each amendment must have Board approval.  Such amendments are made before the fact, are 
reflected in the official minutes of the Board, and are not made after fiscal year-end as dictated by law. 

 
D. Deposits and Investments 

 
The School’s cash and cash equivalents are considered to be cash on hand, demand deposits, and short-term 
investments with original maturities of three months or less from the date of acquisition. 

 
E. Interfund Balances 

 
On fund financial statements, receivables and payables resulting from short-term interfund loans are 
classified as “interfund receivables/payables.”  These amounts are offset against each other in the 
governmental and business-type activities columns of the statement of net position, except for amounts due 
to/from other funds which are not presented in the statement of net position. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
F. Capital Assets 

 
General capital assets result from expenditures in the governmental funds.  These assets are reported in the 
governmental activities column of the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported in the 
fund financial statements.   

 
All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions and 
retirements during the year.  Donated fixed assets are recorded at their fair market values as of the date 
received. Improvements are capitalized; the costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the 
value of the asset or materially extend an asset’s life are not.   

 
All reported capital assets except land and construction in progress are depreciated.  Improvements are 
depreciated over the remaining useful lives of the related capital assets.  Depreciation is computed using the 
straight line method over the following useful lives: 

 
Governmental 

Activities
Description Estimated Lives

Buildings and Improvements 10-40 years
Furniture and Equipment 3-15 years
Computer Equipment 3 years

 
 

G. Compensated Absences 
 

The School has no compensated absences as of June 30, 2013. 
 

H. Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations 
 

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial 
statements. 
 
In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely 
manner and in full from current financial resources are reported as obligations of the funds.  However, 
claims and judgments, special termination benefits and contractually required pension contributions that will 
be paid from governmental funds are reported as a liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent 
that they are due for payment in the current year.  Capital leases are recognized as a liability on the 
governmental fund financial statements when due. 
 
I. Net Position 

 
Net position represents the difference between assets and liabilities.  Net investment in capital assets consists 
of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowings 
used for the acquisition, construction or improvement of those assets.  Net position is reported as restricted 
when there are limitations imposed on their use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the School 
or through external restrictions imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.  
The School applies restricted resources first when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both 
restricted and unrestricted net position is available. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 
J. Fund Balance Classifications 

 
The GASB issued Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions 
(GASB 54) effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2010.  The intention of the GASB is to 
provide a more structured classification of fund balance and to improve the usefulness of fund balance 
reporting to the users of the School’s financial statements.  The reporting standard establishes a hierarchy for 
fund balance classifications and the constraints imposed on the users of those resources. 
 
GASB 54 provides for two major types of fund balances, which are nonspendable and spendable.  
Nonspendable fund balances are balances that cannot be spent because they are not expected to be converted 
to cash or they are legally or contractually required to remain intact.  Examples of this classification are 
prepaid items and inventories. 
 
In addition to the nonspendable fund balance, GASB 54 has provided a hierarchy of spendable fund 
balances, based on a hierarchy of spending constraints. 
 
Restricted – Fund balances that are constrained by external parties, constitutional provisions, or enabling 
legislation. 
 
Committed – Fund balances that contain self-imposed constraints of the government from its highest level of 
decision making authority (Board of Directors).  The board of directors may commit fund balance for 
specific purposes pursuant to constraints imposed by formal actions taken, such as a majority vote or 
resolution.  These committed amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the board of directors 
removes or changes the specific use through the same type of formal action taken to establish the 
commitment.  The board’s action to commit fund balance needs to occur within the fiscal reporting period, 
no later than June 30th; however, the amount can be determined subsequent to the release of the financial 
statements. 
 
Assigned – Fund balances that contain self-imposed constraints of the government to be used for a particular 
purpose.  The School Board has delegated the Board Treasurer the authority to assign fund balance for 
specific purposes. 
 
Unassigned – Fund balance of the general fund that is not constrained for any particular purpose. 
 
Prioritization of Fund Balance Use 

 
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted (committed, 
assigned, or unassigned) amounts are available, it shall be the policy of the organization to consider 
restricted amounts to have been reduced first.  When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which 
amounts in any of the unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used, it shall be the policy of the 
organization that committed amounts would be reduced first, followed by assigned amounts and then 
unassigned amounts. 

 
K. Use of Estimates 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts 
of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates. 
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NOTE 3 – CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

Under Section 440.1 of the Public School Code for 1949, as amended, the School is permitted to invest 
funds consistent with sound business practices in the following types of investments: 
  

Obligations of (a) the United States of America or any of its agencies or instrumentalities backed by the 
full faith and credit of the United States of America, (b) the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of 
its agencies or instrumentalities backed by the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth, or (c) any 
political subdivision of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania or any of its agencies or instrumentalities 
backed by the full faith and credit of the political subdivision. 

 
 Deposits in savings accounts, time deposits, or share accounts of institutions insured by the Federal 

Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) to the extent that such accounts are so insured and, for any 
amounts above the insured maximum, provided that approved collateral, as provided by law, is pledged 
by the depository. 

 
The deposit and investment policy of the School adheres to state statutes and prudent business practices.  
Deposits of the governmental funds are either maintained in demand deposits or savings accounts, 
certificates of deposit, or cash equivalents.  There were no deposit or investment transactions during the year 
that were in violation of either the state statutes or the policy of the School. 

 
The following is a description of the School’s deposit and investment risks: 

 
Custodial Credit Risk – The risk that in the event of a bank failure, the School’s deposits may not be 
returned to it.  The School does not have a formal deposit policy for custodial credit risk.  As of June 30, 
2013, $18,829,176 of the School’s bank balance of $19,090,879 was exposed to custodial credit risk, 
however this balance is collateralized in accordance with Act 72 of the Pennsylvania State Legislature 
which requires the institution to pool collateral for all governmental deposits and have the collateral held 
by an approved custodian in the institution’s name.  These deposits have a carrying amount of 
$18,586,917 as of June 30, 2013.  

 
NOTE 4 – INTERGOVERNMENTAL RECEIVABLES 
 

Amounts due from other governments represent receivables earned by the School. At June 30, 2013, the 
following amounts were receivable from other governmental units. 

 
 

Receivable
Governmental Units:

State 614,039$             
Federal - grant programs 690,485               
Local Educational Agencies, net of allowance 18,377,432          

Totals 19,681,956$       

 
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 
 
Receivables are stated at the amount the School expects to collect. The School maintains allowances for 
doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of LEAs to make required payments.  
Based on management’s assessment, the School provides for estimated uncollectible amounts through a 
charge to earnings and a credit to a valuation allowance.  The allowance account was $278,518 as of June 
30, 2013. 
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NOTE 5 – PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 

A summary of fixed assets recorded as of June 30, 2013 is as follows: 
 

Beginning 
Balance Increases Decreases

Ending 
Balance

Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land 1,079,829$     -$                  -$                 1,079,829$    

Capital assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and Improvements 19,142,575     15,303          -                   19,157,878    
Furniture and Equipment 4,482,207       182,187        (46,184)        4,618,210      
Computer Equipment 22,819,381     3,091,712     (1,886,999)   24,024,094    

Total capital assets, being depreciated 46,444,163     3,289,202     (1,933,183)   47,800,182    

Accumulated depreciation for:

Buildings and Improvements (1,123,207)      (427,955)       -                   (1,551,162)     
Furniture and Equipment (2,663,458)      (417,932)       32,953         (3,048,437)     
Computer Equipment (10,845,035)    (5,291,051)    1,871,042    (14,265,044)   

Total accumulated depreciation (14,631,700)    (6,136,938)    1,903,995    (18,864,643)   

Total capital assets, being depreciated, net: 31,812,463     (2,847,736)    (29,188)        28,935,539    

Governmental activities capital assets, net: 32,892,292$  (2,847,736)$ (29,188)$      30,015,368$ 

 

Depreciation expense of $6,136,938 for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013 was not allocated to the various 
functions because the property, plant and equipment serve all functions of the School. 
 

NOTE 6 – NOTES RECEIVABLE 
 
 On June 30, 2009, the School and the Lincoln Park Performing Arts Center (LPPAC) agreed to cancel a 

prepaid lease originally signed in May 2005.  Additionally, LPPAC signed a promissory note agreeing to 
repay the School the remaining balance of $8,500,000 over a period of twenty-four years through June 30, 
2034.  As of June 30, 2013, the balance of this note receivable is $7,140,000. 

 
NOTE 7 – CREDIT LINE PAYABLE 

 
The School had a credit line with a bank for short-term financing needs.  The maximum borrowing amount 
of the credit line was $30,000,000 as of June 30, 2013, with interest being charged at 2.00% plus 30 day 
LIBOR.  As of June 30, 2013 the interest rate on this line is 2.19228%.  The credit line is secured by the 
accounts receivable of the School.  During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the School requested credit 
line advances totaling $10,000,000 and made payments on the credit line totaling $10,000,000.   
 
As of June 30, 2013 there was no outstanding obligation on the credit line. 
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NOTE 8 - OPERATING LEASES - LESSEE 
 

The School has ten operating leases for office space that expire at various dates through August 2018, with 
optional renewable terms.  Rental expense for these leases totaled $1,270,010 for the year ended June 30, 
2013. 
 
Future minimum lease payments under operating leases that have remaining terms in excess of one year as of 
June 30, 2013, are: 

 
Year Ending June 30, :

2014 1,266,401$   

2015 1,231,220      

2016 1,021,133      

2017 384,792         

2018 and beyond 253,784         

   Total Minimum Payments Required 4,157,330$   
  

 
NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS 
 
Management Agreement 
 

On August 26, 2005 the School entered into a management agreement with the National Network of Digital 
Schools (NNDS).  The management agreement was amended as of July 1, 2010 for a five year term and will 
automatically renew for successive one-year terms thereafter, unless terminated.  Under the agreement, 
NNDS will provide the following services: 

 
1. General business advice regarding operation and management of the School and its resources. 

 
2. Negotiate agreements on behalf of the School to carry out and implement the purpose of the School.  

 
3. Assist the School with accounting records and operational policies. 

 
4.  Provide assistance to the School with legal counsel and auditors as may be required. 
 
5. Provide staff development and human resource services. 
 
6. Marketing School services for the purpose of increasing enrollment. 
 
7. Procurement, shipping and transportation service. 

 
8. Provide physical plant and information technology services. 

 
Fees per the contract are based on 12% of the School’s gross revenue less investment income, gifts or 
endowment revenue.  Total charges under the contract for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2013 were 
$14,634,768. 
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NOTE 9 – COMMITMENTS (continued) 
 
Construction Loan 
 

The School had a construction mortgage to provide for financing needs in relation to the construction of a 
new building.  The maximum borrowing amount of the mortgage was $5,000,000.  Interest was charged at a 
rate of 2.00% plus 30 day LIBOR.  As of June 30, 2013 the interest rate on this loan was 2.19228%.  During 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2013, the School requested advances totaling $2,000,000 and made payments 
totaling $2,000,000.  The mortgage was secured by the building located at 652 Midland Avenue, Midland 
PA  15059.  As of June 30, 2013, the loan is closed and there is no outstanding obligation on the mortgage. 

 
NOTE 10 – RETIREMENT PLANS/OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS  

 
Plan Description.  The School contributes to the Public School Employees’ Retirement System (PSERS); a 
Governmental cost sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the PSERS 
Board of Trustees under the authority of the Public School Employees’ retirement Code (Act No. 96 of 
October 2, 1975, as amended) (24 Pa. C.S. 8101-8535).   PSERS provides retirement and disability, 
legislatively mandated ad hoc cost-of-living adjustments, and healthcare insurance premium assistance to 
qualifying annuitants.  The PSERS issues a publicly available comprehensive annual financial report that 
may be obtained by writing to Office of Financial Management, Public School Employees’ Retirement 
System, P.O. Box 125, Harrisburg, PA 17108-0125.  The publication is also available on the PSERS website 
at: 

                  http://www.psers.state.pa.us/publications/general/cafr.htm 
 

Funding Policy.  Active members who joined the System prior to July 22, 1983, are required to contribute 
5.25% (Membership Class T-C) or at 6.50% (Membership Class T-D) of the member’s qualifying 
compensation.   Members who joined the System on or after July 22, 1983 and who were active or inactive 
as of July 1, 2001, contribute at 6.25% (Membership Class T-C) or at 7.50% (Membership Class T-D) of the 
member’s qualifying compensation.  Members who joined the System after June 30, 2001 and before July 1, 
2011, contribute at 7.50% (Membership Class T-D) of the member’s qualifying compensation.  Members 
who joined the System on or after July 1, 2011 contribute at 7.50% (Membership Class T-E) with “shared 
risk” contribution levels that may fluctuate between 7.50% and 9.50% or at 10.3% (Membership Class T-F) 
with “shared risk” contribution levels that may fluctuate between 10.30% and 12.30%.  The School is 
required to contribute at an actuarially determined rate.  The rates applied to annual covered payroll were 
12.36% at June 30, 2013 and 8.65% at June 30, 2012.  The 12.36% at June 30, 2013 is composed of a 
pension contribution rate of 11.50% for pension benefits and 0.86% for healthcare insurance premium 
assistance.  The School contributed 100% of the required contribution to PSERS for the five year trend as 
follows: 

 
Year Ended Amount of Contribution % of

June 30, Employer Contribution Covered Salaries
2013 $2,951,233 12.36%
2012 $2,173,334 8.65%
2011 $1,316,082 5.64%
2010 $914,803 4.78%
2009 $902,817 4.76%  

 
NOTE 11 – FUND BALANCE REPORTING 
 

The School has classified its fund balances within the following hierarchy: 
 
Nonspendable  
As of June 30, 2013, $92,356 of the School’s fund balance is classified as nonspendable. 
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NOTE 11 – FUND BALANCE REPORTING (continued) 
 

Spendable 
The School has classified the spendable fund balances as Committed, Assigned and Unassigned and 
considered each to have been spent when expenditures are incurred.  The School currently has no funds 
classified as Restricted.  
 
Committed for PSERS – The Board has set aside certain spendable fund balance for the future, significant, 
scheduled increases in the PSERS employer contribution rate.  At year end, the committed fund balance to 
cover PSERS rate increases is $10,740,965. 
 
Committed for Health Care – The Board has set aside certain spendable fund balance to cover projected 
increases in health care costs.  At year end, the committed fund balance to cover these projected rate 
increases is $3,096,294. 
 
Assigned for Facilities Acquisitions – The Board Treasurer has set aside certain spendable fund balance for 
the future facilities acquisitions based on need due to the growth of the School.  At year end, the assigned 
fund balance to cover facilities acquisitions is $4,803,735. 
 
Assigned for Budget Balancing – The Board Treasurer has set aside certain spendable fund balance to cover 
projected expenditures in excess of revenues for the 2013/2014 school year.  At year end, the assigned fund 
balance to cover the excess expenditures is $2,274,343. 
 
Assigned for Purchase Obligations – The Board Treasurer has set aside certain spendable fund balance to 
cover purchases approved by the Board in 2012/2013 for purchases made in the 2013/2014 school year.  At 
year end, the assigned fund balance to cover these purchase obligations is $229,300. 
 
Assigned for Legal Obligations – The Board Treasurer has set aside certain spendable fund balance for the 
future, significant, legal obligations of the School.  At year end, the assigned fund balance to cover the 
obligations is $890,901. 
 
Assigned for OPEB Obligations – The Board Treasurer has set aside certain spendable fund balance for the 
future postemployment benefit obligations of the School.  At year end, the assigned fund balance to cover 
the obligations is $382,069. 
 
Unassigned – As of June 30, 2013, the unassigned fund balance for the General Fund is $7,362,611. 
 

NOTE 12 - CONTINGENCIES  
 
Litigation 
 
The School is involved in various legal proceedings, claims and litigation arising for the ordinary course of 
business. Management intends to vigorously defend the asserted claims. While the outcome of these matters 
is currently not determinable, management does not expect the ultimate costs to resolve these matters will 
have a materially adverse effect on the School’s financial position at June 30, 2013, beyond the 
aforementioned assignment of fund balance.  Fund balance has been assigned for matters that have settled 
prior to the issuance of the financial statement. 
 

Beginning Ending
Balance Increases Decreases Balance

Claims and Judgments Payable -$         890,901$ -$         890,901$  
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NOTE 12 – CONTINGENCIES (continued) 
 

During 2012 several school districts filed a class action complaint, alleging that the School had received 
undue funds for the education of 4-year old kindergarten students.  Subsequent to yearend the court issued an 
order granting class certification in the underlying state law case.  The amount at issue is not yet clear, at this 
time an estimate of the loss, if any, cannot be made, however it could be material.   
 
Grants 
 
The School is potentially liable for any expenditure that may be disallowed pursuant to the terms of grant 
programs.  Management is not aware of any material items of noncompliance, which would result in the 
disallowance of program expenditures. 
 
The School received financial assistance from federal and state agencies in the form of grants.  The 
expenditure of funds received under these programs generally requires compliance with terms and conditions 
specified in the grant agreements and are subject to audit by the grantor agencies.  Any disallowed claims 
resulting from such audits could become a liability of the general fund or other applicable funds.  However, 
in the opinion of management, any such disallowed claims will not have a material adverse effect on the 
overall financial position of the School at June 30, 2013. 

 
NOTE 13 – RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

As of July 1, 2008, the School has elected to self-fund the health and drug benefit program for its employees.  
Under the program, the School employs a third party administrator and pays all medical claims through 
them.  In addition, the School purchases individual and aggregate stop-loss insurance from a commercial 
carrier to protect it from catastrophic claims.  Settled claims have not exceeded the aggregate stop-loss 
insurance coverage for the past year, but the School retains the risk for medical claims above this coverage.   

 
Changes in the estimate of the claims liability are as follows: 

 
Liability balance - June 30, 2012 1,100,469$    

Incurred claims and estimates 4,416,716      
Less:

Claims paid during the period (4,960,241)    

Liability balance - June 30, 2013 556,944$      

 
 
NOTE 14 – POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS 
 

The School sponsors a single employer defined benefit “other post-employment benefit” (OPEB) plan.  The 
benefits provided to retirees of the School include the option of continuing on the School’s health care plan 
available to the active employees at his/her own expense until the retiree reaches age 65.  Under this plan, 
retirees who meet certain age and service requirements may elect coverage for themselves and their spouse 
until they reach age 65 or three years, whichever comes first.  Should the retiree not be eligible for Medicare 
at the end of the three year period, the retiree may elect to stay on the School’s health care plan at his/her 
expense until the retiree reaches Medicare eligibility.  The School currently pays an explicit subsidy equal to 
100% of the blended (active and retired) premium, plus the implicit subsidy equal to the difference between 
the actual retiree cost and the blended rate. 
 
Currently, these benefits are provided through the School’s self-funded health insurance plan (self-
insurance).  The School recognizes the cost of providing benefits by expensing the actual claims paid by the 
self-insurance on a pay-as-you-go basis.  There are no plans at this time to fund the OPEB liability and 
therefore there are no plan assets.  



PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013 

 24

NOTE 14 – POST-RETIREMENT HEALTH INSURANCE BENEFITS (continued) 
 

Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions 
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future.  Examples include assumptions about future 
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend.  Amounts determined regarding the funded status of 
the plan and the annual required contributions of the employer are subject to continual revision as actual 
results are compared with past expectations and new estimates are made about the future. 

 
Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as 
understood by the employer and plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the time of 
each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and the plan 
members to that point.  The actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to 
reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, 
consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.  The OPEB plan does not issue stand-alone 
financial reports.  As allowed by GASB Statement 45, the School elected to report the OPEB plan liability 
on a prospective basis.   
 

The annual OPEB cost was determined as part of the actuarial valuation.  Additional information as of the 
last actuarial valuations follows: 

 
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation

Annual Required Contribution 106,354$              
Interest on the Net OPEB Obligation 12,889                  
Adjustment on the ARC (17,584)                 
Annual OPEB Costs 101,659$              
Less Contributions made (6,009)                   
Increase in Net OPEB Obligation 95,650$                
Net OPEB obligation  - beginning of year 286,419                
Net OPEB obligation  - end of year 382,069$              

 
Remaining Amortization Period: 30 Years
Actuarial Assumptions:

Investment rate of return 4.50%
Inflation rate None
Health cost trend rates Annual Increases in premium for retired medical

prescription drug benefits are assumed to be
as follows:
Year After Valuation Increase

1 5.00%
2 5.00%
3 5.00%
4 5.00%

5 or more 5.00%  
 
NOTE 15 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

During July 2013, the School renewed its $30,000,000 line of credit.  Bank advances on the credit line are 
payable on demand and carry an interest rate of 2.00% plus 30 day LIBOR.  The credit line is secured by the 
accounts receivable of the School.  
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PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL 
REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 

 
SCHEDULE OF FUNDING PROGRESS 

OTHER POST EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT 
JUNE 30, 2013 

 
 
Trend information gives an indication of the progress made in accumulating sufficient assets to pay benefits when 
due.  Information in this schedule about funded status and funding progress is presented using the entry age actuarial 
cost method for that purpose.  This information is intended to serve as a surrogate for the funding progress of the 
plan.  The School has presented information from the first three valuations, which were first required by 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement # 45.  This information is presented prospectively.  
In subsequent years, the School will add to the schedule until six years of information has been met. 
 
 

Actuarial 
Valuation 

Date

Actuarial 
Value of 
Assets 
(AVA)

Actuarial 
Accrued 
Liability 
(AAL)

Unfunded 
AAL 

(UAAL)
Funded 
Ratio

Covered 
Payroll

UAAL as a 
Percentage 
of Covered 

Payroll
7/1/2008 -$             270,651$   270,651$     0% 17,868,250$  1.51%
7/1/2010 -$             531,596$   531,596$     0% 23,733,290$  2.24%
7/1/2012 -$             587,308$   587,308$     0% 24,224,459$  2.42%
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Pass Accrued Accrued
Federal Through Program Total (Deferred) (Deferred)

Source CFDA Grantor's Grant Period or Award Received Revenue Revenue Revenue
Federal Grantor/Project Title Code Number Number From-To Amount For Year July 1, 2012 Recognized Expenditures June 30, 2013
U.S. Department of Education
Passed through the PA Department

of Education:
Title I Improving Basic Programs I 84.010 013-120996 07/01/12-09/30/13 2,257,827$  2,257,827$  -$                   2,257,827$    2,257,827$    -$                   
Title II I 84.367 020-120996 07/01/12-09/30/13 96,707          97,671          -                     96,707           96,707           (964)               

Total PA Department of Education -                     2,354,534      2,354,534      (964)               

Department of Public Welfare
Title XIX - Medical Access I 93.778 10/01/12-12/31/12 673$             673$             -                     673                673                -                     
Title XIX - Medical Access I 93.778 01/01/13-03/31/13 681               -                    -                     681                681                681                
Total PA Department of Public Welfare -                     1,354             1,354             681                

Passed through the Beaver Valley Intermediate

    Unit:

   IDEA 619 B Pass Through I 84.173 27 07/01/12-06/30/13 6,482$          -$                 -                     6,482             6,482             * 6,482             
   IDEA - ESY I 84.027 27 07/01/12-06/30/13 207               207               -                     207                207                * -                     
   IDEA I 84.027 27 07/01/12-06/30/13 1,251,659    1,251,659    -                     1,251,659      1,251,659      * -                     

    Total Intermediate Unit -                     1,258,348      1,258,348      6,482             

    Total Federal Assistance -$                   3,614,236$    3,614,236$    6,199$           

  Source Codes: Footnotes:
    I=Indirect Funding  *  Selected for testing
    F=Federal Share
    S=State Share

  Percentage test rule calculation:
    Total Expenditures per above 3,614,236$  

    Total Federal Expenditures Tested = 1,258,348$ = 35%

PENNSYLVANIA CYBER CHARTER SCHOOL
SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2013

See Independent Auditors' Report and the Accompanying Notes to the Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards.
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NOTE 1 – BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 
 

The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards includes the federal grant activity of the 
Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School (The School) and is presented on the accrual basis of accounting.  The 
information in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements on OMB Circular A-133, 
Audits of States, Local Governments, and Non-Profit Organizations.  Therefore, some amounts presented in 
this schedule may differ from amounts presented in, or used in the preparation of, the basic financial 
statements.   

 
NOTE 2 – BUDGETARY DATA 

 
The School passed, and had approved by the appropriate agency, budgets for the fiscal year ending June 30, 
2013 for all federal programs.   
 

NOTE 3 – RECONCILIATION 
 

Federal Awards per Schedule of Expenditures of Federal Awards 3,614,236$      
Medical Access funds 78,548             
Pass-through awards recorded in Local revenue (1,258,348)      

Per financial statement 2,434,436$      
 

 
 
 
 
  



Tax // Audit & Attestation // Consulting // Planning

DeluzioDC
351 Harvey Avenue, Suite A

Greensburg, PA 15601-1911

724 838 8322

www.DeluzioCPA.com

Charles A. Deluzio, CPA

Jeffrey P. Anzovino, CPA, MSA

Joseph E. Petrillo, CPA

Stacey A. Sanders, CPA, CSEP& COMPANY, LLP

REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN

ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors

Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-
type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of Pennsylvania Cyber Charter
School as of and for the year ended June 30, 2013, and the related notes to the financial statements, which
collectively comprise Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's basic financial statements, and have issued our
report thereon dated December 3, 2013.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered Pennsylvania Cyber Charter
School's internal control over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinions on the financial statements, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's internal
control. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Pennsylvania Cyber Charter
School's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over financial reporting was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over financial
reporting that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our
audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over financial reporting that we consider to be
material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.

Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's financial
statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of
laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material
effect on the determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance
with those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.

(Continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

(Continued)

Purpose ofthis Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or
on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose.

Greensburg, Pennsylvania
December 3, 2013

vj
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REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL

CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE IN ACCORDANCE WITH OMB CIRCULAR A-133

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Directors

Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's compliance with the types of compliance requirements
described in the U.S. Office of Management and Budget (OMB) Circular A-133 Compliance Supplement that
could have a direct and material effect on each of Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's major federal
programs for the year ended June 30, 2013. The Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's major federal programs
are identified in the summary of auditor's result section of the accompanying schedule of findings and
questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants
applicable to its federal programs.

Auditor 's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's
major federal programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We
conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and OMB Circular A-133, Audits of States, Local
Governments, and 'Non-Profit Organizations. Those standards and OMB Circular A-133 require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about Pennsylvania Cyber Charter
School's compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's
compliance.

Unmodified Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School complied, in all material respects, with the requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year
ended June 30, 2013.

(Continued)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

(Continued)

Report on Internal Control over Compliance

Management of Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective
internal control over compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts, and grants applicable to
federal programs. In planning and performing our audit, we considered Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's
internal control over compliance with the requirements that could have a direct and material effect on a major
federal program to determine the auditing procedures for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance
and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with OMB Circular A-133, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance. Accordingly,
we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of Pennsylvania Cyber Charter School's internal control
over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal
program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or
combination of deficiencies in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that
material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or
detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance
requirement of a federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over
compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance
that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist
that have not been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of OMB Circular A-
133. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

I^Umwv <y (>^tlAf^o^Hl Llf

Greensburg, Pennsylvania
December 3, 2013
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Section I – Summary of Auditor’s Results 
 

Financial Statements 
Type of auditor’s report issued: Unmodified 
 
Internal control over financial reporting: 

Material weaknesses identified?      Yes  X  No 
Significant deficiencies identified not considered to be material 

weaknesses?      Yes  X  None reported 
 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted?       Yes  X  No 
 
Federal Awards 
Internal control over major programs: 

Material weaknesses identified?       Yes  X  No 
Significant deficiencies identified not considered to be material 

weaknesses?      Yes  X  None reported 
 
Type of auditor’s report issued on compliance for major 

programs: Unmodified 
 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in 

accordance with Section 510(a) of Circular A-133?      Yes  X  No 
 
Identification of major programs: 
 
  Name of Federal Program or Cluster CFDA Numbers 
 
  IDEA – Special Education Cluster 84.173 & 84.027 
   
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B 

programs: $300,000 
 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee?  X  Yes     No 

 
Section II – Financial Statement Findings 

 
This section identifies the significant deficiencies, material weaknesses and instances of noncompliance 
related to the consolidated financial statements that are required to be reported in accordance with 
Government Auditing Standards. 

 
 None 
 
Section III – Federal Award Findings and Questioned Costs 
 

This section identifies the audit findings to be reported by Section 510(a) of Circular A-133 (e.g. report 
significant deficiencies, material weaknesses and instances of noncompliance, including questioned 
costs). 

 
None 
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Prior Year Findings 
 

This section identifies the audit findings that were reported in the prior year by Section 510(a) of 
Circular A-133 (e.g. report significant deficiencies, material weaknesses and instances of 
noncompliance, including questioned costs). 

  
 None 
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Appendix V 
Execution of Response 

Acceptance of a proposal does not create a contract and is subject to the negotiation of a contract 
acceptable to PA Cyber.  By submitting this response, the Proposer/potential Contractor 
certifies the following: 

 An authorized representative of the organization has signed this response. 
 The cost and availability of all staff, equipment, materials, and supplies associated with 

performing the services described herein have been determined and included in the 
proposed cost. 

 All labor costs, direct and indirect, have been determined and included in the proposed 
cost. 

 The potential provider has read and understands the conditions set forth in this RFP and 
agrees to them with no exceptions. 

 That all information provided in the response is factual and verifiable. 
 
ORGANIZATION:              
 
ADDRESS:               
 
CITY, STATE, ZIP:              
 
TELEPHONE NUMBER:         FAX:       
 
FEDERAL EMPLOYER IDENTIFICATION NUMBER:        
 
E-MAIL:               
 
Do the Proposer or any of its subcontractors have a conflict of interest, as described in the RFP, 
with PA Cyber, National Network of Digital Schools Management Foundation, or National 
Network of Digital Schools? 
 
□  Yes □  No  
(If yes, describe in an addendum to response). 
 
Will any of the work under this contract be outsourced to a third party? 
 
□  Yes □  No 
(If yes, describe in an addendum to response). 
 
BY:         TITLE:        DATE:     
        (Signature) 
 
             
      (Typed or printed name) 
THIS PAGE MUST BE SIGNED AND INCLUDED IN YOUR RESPONSE.   Unsigned responses 
will not be considered 
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